RECEIVED

Aug 03 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William B. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000288

---

Angela Patton, as Next Friend of Alexia L., a minor, ..... Respondent,

v.

Dr. Gregory A. Miller and Rock Hill Gynecological & Obstetrical Associates, P.A., ..... Appellants.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

---

C. Mitchell Brown  
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP  
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor  
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 799-2000

*Attorneys for Appellants Gregory A. Miller, M.D.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Whether the trial judge committed prejudicial error by failing to recuse himself from trying this medical negligence case in light of the unique and circumstances.
2. Whether the trial judge committed reversible error by denying Appellants' motion to amend to conform to the evidence to allow the statutory emergency defense under South Carolina Code section 15-32-230(A) to be properly presented and the jury charged accordingly.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is a medical malpractice action originally filed on November 25, 2009. Respondent sued Dr. Miller and Rock Hill Gynecological & Obstetrical Associates, P.A. (the "Practice") (together, Dr. Miller and the Practice are referred to as "Appellants") based on injuries suffered by the minor plaintiff allegedly as a result of a delivery complication known as shoulder dystocia which occurred on April 5, 2007. (Complaint, R. 69).

After Appellants answered the original complaint, (Answer, R. 78), Respondent served an offer of judgment on October 4, 2010, in which she offered to have judgment entered in her favor for \$1 million, (Offer of Judgment, R. 1562). Appellants did not accept the offer of judgment. On July 12, 2012, Respondent moved to consolidate this action and a separate action she had filed against Amisub of South Carolina, Inc. d/b/a Piedmont Medical Center ("Piedmont Medical Center"), (Mot. to Consolidate, R. 1280), and the circuit court granted consolidation, (Or. Consolidating Cases, R. 1). Respondent filed an amended complaint on November 19, 2012. (Am. Compl., R. 81).

Piedmont Medical Center moved for partial summary judgment in April 2013, arguing Respondent, as the parent of the injured minor plaintiff, was not entitled to recover any medical expenses incurred by the minor plaintiff prior to the time the minor plaintiff reached the age of majority. (Piedmont Mot. for Summ. J., R.1284). Appellants filed a similar motion in May 2013.

(Appellants Mot. for Summ. J., R. 1286). The circuit court granted partial summary judgment on August 2, 2013. (Or. Granting Partial Summ. J., R. 15). After the circuit court denied Respondent’s Rule 59(e) motion, Respondent appealed the partial summary judgment ruling on January 15, 2014. (Respondent’s Notice of Appeal, R. 1652). Respondent’s appeal automatically stayed this case in the circuit court, and the case remained stayed until the South Carolina Supreme Court issued a remittitur on October 17, 2017. (Remittitur, R. 1664).

After the remittitur, Respondent settled with Piedmont Medical Center for \$50,000 and, on April 3, 2018, filed a petition for court approval of the settlement. (Pet. for Approval of Partial Settlement, R. 1359). The circuit court approved the settlement on April 5, 2018. (Or. Approving Partial Settlement, R. 32).

On October 8, 2018, Respondent filed a “Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, or in the Alternative, an Order Granting a Stay of Trial Until Pending Appeals in Other Cases Resolve Material Issues Likely to Arise in this Case.” (Mot. for SJ or Stay, R. 1364). In that motion, Respondent asked the circuit court to grant partial summary judgment “to preclude the expected statutory defense under S.C. Code of Laws Section 15-32-230, representing a liability shield for negligently inflicted harm in the context of certain alleged obstetrical emergencies,” and argued the statute did not apply to this case. (*Id.*). In the alternative, Respondent requested that the circuit court stay the trial of this case “until pending appeals in other cases resolve material issues likely to arise in this case.” (*Id.*). Specifically, Respondent argued the trial of this case should be stayed until two appeals<sup>1</sup> “address[ing] various novel and complex legal and medical issues arising under S. C. Code of Laws Section 15-32-230” were resolved to ensure the circuit court would “have

---

<sup>1</sup> Those appeals eventually became this Court’s decisions in *Byrd as Next Friend of Julia B. v. McLeod Physician Assocs. II*, 427 S.C. 407, 414, 831 S.E.2d 152, 155 (Ct. App. 2019) and *Flowers v. Giep*, 436 S.C. 281, 284, 871 S.E.2d 604, 606 (Ct. App. 2021).

guidance from the appellate courts about statutory definitions, applicability to certain fact patterns, and related matters.” (*Id.*). The circuit court<sup>2</sup> denied Respondent’s motion for partial summary judgment, (Or. Denying Partial MSJ, R. 37), but granted Respondent’s request for a stay on October 31, 2018, (Or. Granting Stay, R. 40).

During the stay, the circuit court held status conferences every few months from January 2019 through early 2020, each time ordering that a status conference be reconvened three months later. *See* (Or. Re Jan. 2019 Status Conf., R. 43; Or. Re Apr. 2019 Status Conf., R. 46; Or. Re July 2019 Status Conf., R. 49; Or. Re Sept. 2019 Status Conf., R. 52\_; Or. Re Jan. 2020 Status Conf., R. 55). In August 2020, Appellants moved to amend their answer to add affirmative defenses related to punitive damages, (Aug. 2020 Mot. to Amend, R. 1309), and filed their amended answer in September 2020, (Am. Answer, R. 91)<sup>3</sup>. Appellants also requested a status conference and a scheduling order “limiting additional discovery due to the late stage of this case and . . . a deadline for which all *de bene esse* depositions, and any other depositions of any additional witnesses allowed to be completed, for no later than October 30, 2020 in order to allow for sufficient trial preparation.” (Aug. 2020 Mot. for Status Conference, R. 1367). The circuit court entered a scheduling order on September 1, 2020, requiring that Respondent “make a good-faith effort to disclose all witnesses by September 18, 2020; however, Plaintiff may add additional witnesses beyond September 18, 2020” provided that she offer deposition dates for any additional witness prior to November 6, 2020. (Sept. 2020 Sched. Or., R.58).

---

<sup>2</sup> This circuit court judge was not the same as the ultimate trial judge in this matter.

<sup>3</sup> This in the wake of the Court of Appeals’ decision in *Garrison v. Target Corp.*, 429 S.C. 324, 373, 838 S.E.2d 18, 44 (Ct. App. 2020), regarding punitive damages caps, which case was later reversed on that point by the South Carolina Supreme Court, 435 S.C. 566, 582, 869 S.E.2d 797, 806 (2022).

In September 2021, the parties received notice that the case would be set for trial on January 4, 2022, and that Judge McKinnon had been designated as the trial judge. Prior to trial, Appellants moved for recusal of Judge McKinnon. (Mot. for Recusal, R. 1400). The trial judge held a pretrial hearing on the motion for recusal on December 2, 2021, and orally denied the motion. (Pretrial Hearing, R. 100).

The parties tried the case in January 2022. At the conclusion of the Respondent's case, Appellants moved to amend their Answer to conform to the evidence and assert the statutory emergency defense, coupled with a request that the Court charge the jury with the statutory emergency defense law. (R. 912-914.) Respondent objected. This motion was denied, and the jury returned a verdict in favor of Respondent on her claim for medical negligence and awarded \$1.5 million in economic damages and \$1 million in noneconomic damages. (Verdict Form, R. 1671). After the verdict, Appellants moved for a new trial absolute on several grounds, including that:

(1) The circuit court erred in denying Appellants' Rule 15(b) motion to conform to the evidence and Appellants' request that the jury be charged on statutory emergency;  
...

(4) The circuit court judge presiding over the trial erred in declining to recuse himself; *See* (Mot. for New Trial, R. 1409; Memo. in Supp. of Mot. for New Trial, R. 1419; Supplemental Memo. in Supp. of Mot. for a New Trial, R. 1503). Appellants also requested that the circuit court apply the \$350,000 noneconomic damages cap pursuant to South Carolina Code section 15-32-220 on the ground that the verdict was against only one healthcare provider, Dr. Miller, and reduce the noneconomic damages award. *See* (Mot. for New Trial, R. 1416-17).

The circuit court denied the new trial motion, ruled the cap on noneconomic damages must be doubled because it found the judgment should be entered against two healthcare providers (Dr.

Miller and the Practice), applied a \$50,000 setoff, added interest from the date of the October 2010 offer of judgment, and entered judgment in the amount of \$4,682,689.57. *See* (Post-Trial Order and Judgment, R. 65). Appellants timely appealed (1) the March 3, 2022 Post-Trial Order and Judgment; (2) the jury verdict, related judgment, and evidentiary and other rulings at trial, including the issues related to the statutory emergency defense described above; and (3) the circuit court’s denial of Respondents’ motion for recusal. *See* (Notice of Appeal served and filed March 11, 2022, R. 1676).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### **I. The “Genuine Emergency” Defense Under Section 15-32-230**

Section 15-32-230 “provides physicians immunity from simple negligence in certain medical malpractice suits.” *Flowers v. Giep*, 436 S.C. 281, 284, 871 S.E.2d 604, 606 (Ct. App. 2021). The statute provides:

(A) In an action involving a medical malpractice claim arising out of care rendered in a genuine emergency situation involving an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury to the patient receiving care in an emergency department or in an obstetrical or surgical suite, no physician may be held liable unless it is proven that the physician was grossly negligent.

(B) In an action involving a medical malpractice claim arising out of obstetrical care rendered by a physician on an emergency basis when there is no previous doctor/patient relationship between the physician or a member of his practice with a patient or the patient has not received prenatal care, such physician is not liable unless it is proven such physician is grossly negligent.

(C) The limitation on physician liability established by subsections (A) and (B) shall only apply if the patient is not medically stable and:

(1) in immediate threat of death; or

(2) in immediate threat of serious bodily injury.

Further, the limitation on physician liability established by subsections (A) and (B) shall only apply to care rendered prior to the patient's discharge from the emergency department or obstetrical or surgical suite.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-230. The statute thus provides an affirmative defense protecting a physician from liability for ordinary negligence if the physician proves three required elements: (1) the claim arises out of a genuine emergency situation, (2) the patient is not medically stable, and (3) the patient was under an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury. *Byrd as Next Friend of Julia B. v. McLeod Physician Assocs. II*, 427 S.C. 407, 414, 831 S.E.2d 152, 155 (Ct. App. 2019).

## **II. Background Facts and Assertion of Statutory Emergency Defense**

Respondent sued Appellants for medical malpractice based on injuries suffered by the minor plaintiff during birth. During delivery of the minor plaintiff, a delivery complication known as shoulder dystocia occurred. Shoulder dystocia occurs during childbirth “when the baby’s shoulder catches against the mother’s pubic bone and fails to enter the pelvis, stalling the delivery.” *Flowers*, 436 S.C. at 284, 871 S.E.2d at 606. Respondent alleged the minor plaintiff suffered brachial plexus injuries caused by alleged mismanagement of the shoulder dystocia by Dr. Miller, the attending obstetrician during the delivery, which took place in an operating room at Piedmont Medical Center. *See generally* (Am. Compl., R. 81). Dr. Miller testified at trial that a shoulder dystocia “is an emergency and the baby’s life is on the line.” (R. 772). If the shoulder dystocia is not resolved within four to five minutes, the baby may suffer brain damage. (R. 795).

### **A. Pretrial Proceedings**

The parties deposed a number of witnesses during discovery. In 2013, the parties deposed Plaintiff’s expert Dr. Gurewitsch. Dr. Gurewitsch’s addressed all three elements of the statutory emergency defense—specifically, whether a shoulder dystocia is an obstetrical emergency,

whether the patient is medically stable during a shoulder dystocia, and whether the patient was under an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury. *See* (Depo. of Dr. Gurewitsch, R. 1612-1614); *see also* (R. 637) (reading Dr. Gurewitsch’s deposition testimony to the jury at trial).

In 2018, Respondent moved for partial summary judgment “to preclude the *expected* statutory defense under S.C. Code of Laws Section 15-32-230, representing a liability shield for negligently inflicted harm in the context of certain alleged obstetrical emergencies.” *See* (Mot. for Partial Summary Judgment or a Stay, R. 1286) (emphasis added). Respondent sought summary judgment on the merits of the defense, arguing it did not apply to the facts of this case. (*Id.*). In the alternative, Respondent sought a stay of this action until the appellate courts resolved two appeals (*Byrd* and *Flowers, supra*) in which section 15-32-230 was at issue. *See (id.)*. Respondent did not argue that the statutory defense had been waived by Appellants or was otherwise unavailable to Appellants on procedural or equitable grounds. *See (id.)*. The circuit court denied Respondent’s motion for summary judgment but granted Respondent’s request to stay the case. (Or. Granting Stay, R. 40). Ultimately, the two appeals were resolved by this Court regarding the statutory defense.

## **B. Appellants’ Motion for Recusal**

In September 2021, the parties received notice that the case would be set for trial on January 4, 2022, and that Judge McKinnon had been designated as the trial judge. Prior to trial, Appellants moved for recusal of Judge McKinnon based on his prior work handling medical malpractice cases as for a “well-known law firm heavily engaged in representing plaintiffs in medical malpractice cases.” (Mot. for Recusal, R. 1400). Appellants argued the law firm—McGowan, Hood & Felder—had filed a number of lawsuits against Dr. Miller’s practice and partners, and Dr. Miller had testified as an expert witness in defense of his practice and partners in more than one of the

cases filed by the trial judge's former law firm. (*Id.*). The trial judge held a pretrial hearing on the motion for recusal on December 2, 2021, and orally denied the motion. (Pretrial Hearing Tr. at 7, R. 100). In doing so, the trial judge expressly found the recusal motion was not "baseless or frivolous" and indicated he would ordinarily grant the motion, but denied the motion because "there are only two [j]udges in York County" and if he set a precedent of recusing himself in cases involving his old law firm, he did not think it would be "fair to McGowan/Hood" because "there is only two Judges in York County." (Pretrial Hearing Tr. at 7, R. 100). The circuit judge further explained that he did not find "that there is a reasonable belief that [he] would be partial to one side or the other in the case." (*Id.*).

### **C. Trial**

During trial, the statutory emergency issue was raised during *voir dire* discussions and opening statements, and evidence was presented addressing all three elements of the defense. (R. 126-27, 283, 308-09, 415, 419, 770-776, 794-95). There are no contemporaneous or specific objections of record. Expert testimony for both parties included questions and answers regarding whether the circumstances surrounding delivery of the minor plaintiff constituted a genuine obstetrical emergency, whether the patient was medically stable, and whether there was an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury. (R. 308, 309, 415, 770-776, 794-95). Accordingly, because the statutory emergency defense was an issue at trial, Appellants moved at the close of Respondent's evidence to amend their answer to conform to the evidence and assert section 15-32-230 as a defense.<sup>4</sup> (R. 912-914). Appellants also requested that the trial judge charge the jury on the statutory defense. (R. 820, 823). The trial judge denied the motion. (Trial

---

<sup>4</sup> In *Flowers, supra*, the statutory defense had likewise been added as a defense by way of amendment at the conclusion of the trial.

Tr. 808, R. 915). The trial court thus did not charge the jury on the statutory emergency defense, and the jury returned a verdict in favor of Respondent, awarding \$1.5 million in economic damages and \$1 million in economic damages. (Verdict Form, R. 1671).

Appellants moved for a new trial on several grounds, including that the trial judge erred in denying Appellants' Rule 15 motion to amend. (Mot. for New Trial, R. 1409). The trial judge denied the motion, finding that it was not until the defense called Dr. Miller in the defense case-in-chief that the statutory defense elements were raised and Respondent would be prejudiced for lack of opportunity to refute the defense. (R. 821) (Post-Trial Or. & Judgment at 2, R. 2).

### **ARGUMENT**

Two critical errors below require a new trial. First, respectfully, the trial judge should have recused himself. The trial judge's former law partners at McGowan Hood previously sued the same medical practice involved here when the trial judge was their law partner. Dr. Miller was a partner in the medical practice, and Dr. Miller served as an expert witness, on behalf of the practice, in more than one of those malpractice cases. While expressly regretting that they had to do so, Appellants made the recusal motion illuminating these points. (R. 1400). After Appellants raised the issue<sup>5</sup>, the trial judge stated that he would have recused himself if a sufficient number of other judges were available. This rationale (evaluating number of circuit judges available in a circuit) is not a part of the recusal test. Nor was the trial judge's stated concern that he be able to continue to be available to try other cases in which McGowan Hood<sup>6</sup> appeared, and that recusing himself in this case would set an unhelpful precedent. Unfortunately, as explained below, the trial judge

---

<sup>5</sup> The trial judge did not raise these facts himself prior to the recusal motion. *See* Commentary, Canon 3(E) ("A judge should disclose on the record information that the judge believes the parties or their lawyers might consider relevant to the question of disqualification, even if the judge believes there is no real basis for disqualification.").

<sup>6</sup> McGowan, Hood did not represent any party in this matter.

made factual findings unsupported by the record with respect to the most critical ruling in this appeal.

Appellants were prejudicially deprived of use of the statutory emergency defense under South Carolina Code section 15-32-230(A) by denial of their Rule 15(b) motion to amend their pleadings to conform to the evidence. Respondent should be judicially estopped from claiming prejudice based on prior representations to the circuit court, and Respondent has otherwise waived any claim of Rule 15(b) prejudice for lack of sufficient objection. Respondent has also failed to demonstrate any such prejudice on the merits. Respondent knew that the statutory emergency defense was at issue in this case for *years* before trial, and the issue was amply borne out in discovery with experts witnesses for both sides. Respondent's counsel has acknowledged—on the record—that he knew about Appellants' intended use of the emergency statute and was expecting an amendment at some point, and Respondent had even been granted a motion to continue trial on that basis. (Post-Trial Hearing, R. 1274-75). Questions about the statutory defense were asked during jury selection, Appellants argued the issue—without objection—during their opening statement, and experts for both sides at trial were questioned about the emergency defense, also without specific or contemporaneous objection. Respondent also elicited testimony on recklessness and thus attempted to present a case sufficient to refute the emergency defense. Under these circumstances, Appellants' motion to amend to conform to the evidence, under Rule 15(b)'s liberal standard to try cases on the merits, should have been allowed and the statutory emergency defense properly charged to the jury. The judgment below should be reversed, and the cause remanded for a new trial before a different circuit judge.

**I. The trial judge committed prejudicial error by failing to recuse himself from trying this medical negligence case in light of the unique circumstances below.**

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