THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William B. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000288

---

Angela Patton, as Next Friend of Alexia L., a minor, ..... Respondent,

v.

Dr. Gregory A. Miller and Rock Hill Gynecological &  
Obstetrical Associates, P.A.,..... Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

GRAHAM LAW FIRM, P.A.  
Edward L. Graham  
Graham Law Firm  
120 Donald Drive  
Pendleton, SC

D. Bradley Jordan  
Jordan Law Firm, PC  
546 East Main Street  
Rock Hill, SC 29730

Attorneys for Respondent

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 03 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**

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

**D. *There Was No Further Indication from Appellants After October 31, 2018, that They Would Follow Through on Their Purported Desire or Intent to Seek Leave to Amend Their Answer to Raise the Section 15-32-230 Defense.***

After Judge Hall stayed the case, Respondent’s counsel heard nothing further about any desire or intent of Appellants to seek leave to amend. Counsel had increasing doubts that they would do so, believing Appellants had presumably recognized the statutory defense was inapplicable to these facts, or a motion for leave to amend to assert an affirmative defense this late would be found prejudicial to Respondent.

**1. Appellants’ Representations to the Court at the Motion Hearing**

There is disagreement about the representations made to Judge Hall by Appellants’ trial counsel. Did Appellants tell Judge Hall they intended to move for leave to amend under Rule 15(a), SCRCF, to assert the affirmative Section 15-32-230 Defense? Or did they only imply they would do so by stating they would ask the trial judge to give a jury charge on the unpled Defense at trial?

Respondent’s counsel recalls Appellants’ trial counsel representing to Judge Hall his desire or intent to seek leave to raise the Defense in an Amended Answer. In contrast, Appellants’ trial counsel represented in post-trial motion hearings that he had only informed Judge Hall that he would ask the trial judge to charge Section 15-32-230.

Whichever is correct does not aid the Appellants’ position on appeal. If the former, Appellants abandoned their intent to file a motion for leave to amend to add the Defense. If the

latter, Appellants waived their rights under Rule 15(a), SCRCRCP, and subtly foreshadowed their intent to try to use Rule 15(b), SCRCRCP, as an ambush tactic. *See* p. 19-21, *infra*.

**2. Corroboration of Appellants' Abandonment and Waiver of a Rule 15(a) Motion, and Intent to Use Rule 15(b) for an Improper Ambush**

For over two and one-half years thereafter, Appellants filed no motion for leave to amend to assert the statutory defense and did not speak to Respondent about the subject. Appellants' associate counsel exchanged emails as a Rule 11 conference with Respondent's counsel to determine whether Respondent would consent to an amendment to Appellants' Answer to add affirmative defenses. Respondent's counsel responded by requesting clarification of which affirmative defenses Appellants wanted to add, because he was not going to consent to adding the affirmative statutory defense. Associate counsel responded that he would have to check with Appellants' trial counsel, Mr. Davis. After checking, associate counsel stated that Appellants were seeking consent to add certain statutory punitive damages defenses, which this Court had decided were affirmative defenses. The associate counsel confirmed that Mr. Davis was not seeking Respondent's consent to add the affirmative statutory defense. (R. p. 1274 line 17 – p. 1276 line 5) Respondent consented to an order which granted leave to amend the Answer to add punitive damages defenses. The Amended Answer was filed on September 3, 2020. (R. pp. 91-93) Appellants were continuously silent about the statutory defense by Appellants thereafter until they made their Rule 15(b) motion during trial on January 10, 2022, after Respondent had rested.

**E. The Trial Judge Properly Denied Appellants' Guileful Attempt to Invoke Rule 15(b) After Respondent Had Rested.**

**1. The Parties Had Not Tried the Statutory Defense by Express or Implied Consent.**

Appellants' argument that the statutory issues were tried conflates terms of art in the statute with the fundamental medical malpractice proof requirements. "Medical malpractice" is codified in S.C. as "doing that which the reasonably prudent health care provider ... would not do or not doing that which the reasonably prudent health care provider ... would do in the same or similar circumstances." S.C. Code of Laws Section 15-32-210(8) and 15-78-110(6). Caselaw to the same effect is extensive. Among other elements, a medical malpractice plaintiff must prove the standard of care, which must take into account the same or similar circumstances faced by the defendant health care provider.

In this case, the defendant obstetrician was confronted with a well-known complication of vaginal delivery known as shoulder dystocia. This is recognized as an *obstetrical* emergency, which, if not resolved for four or more minutes<sup>6</sup>, risks brain damage. Also, in the shoulder dystocia context, forceful manipulation of the head to the side or by twisting it can immediately cause brachial plexus nerve damage. In a 45 to 60 second shoulder dystocia, as in this case, there is no risk of serious harm unless the obstetrician manipulates the head forcefully and wrongfully. There is no risk of brain damage because of the short duration of the shoulder dystocia complication. (R. p. 1613) (Gurewitch deposition p. 53 6-13) The longer the passage of time, the greater the risk of possible brain damage from substantial oxygen deprivation.

In a shoulder dystocia/brachial plexus birth injury case, a plaintiff's attorney always confronts basic standard of care issues related to emergency and risk of harm. Respondent of course did so in this trial, to put up a *prima facie* case. Issues were addressed in this case related

---

<sup>6</sup>On the low end, some obstetricians say four to five minutes. On the high end some obstetricians say six to eight or more. The difference lies primarily upon assumptions about whether an umbilical cord might be completely compressed so as to block all blood flow, or, more likely, compressed to a lesser extent allowing blood flow to continue. Many pediatric neurologists say permanent brain damage is unlikely for a much longer time, but it is recognized as prudent in the obstetrical community to allow a large time cushion.

to (1) severity of the obstetrical emergency; (2) time factors; (3) the defendant's knowledge, training, and experience; (4) the baby's fetal heart tracing status; and (5) severity of the injuries, just as in all shoulder dystocia/brachial plexus nerve injury cases.

There is no clear bright line between the "same or similar circumstances" aspect of the obstetrical standards of care in this case and the conditional requirements the Appellants must satisfy to attain qualified immunity under the Section 15-32-230 Defense. Among other limitations, Appellants must prove a "genuine emergency;" an "immediate threat" of death or serious bodily injury; and that "the patient is not medically stable." Because these phrases are not defined in the statute, it is unclear just how similar these statutory phrases are to the "same or similar circumstances" issues which arise in every medical malpractice case which involves an emergency. Undoubtedly, they overlap to a large degree. For Appellants to argue Respondent's addressing "same or similar circumstances" is the same as trying the issues in a Section 15-32-230 Defense is an exercise in obfuscation.

There is a monumental difference, however, between the "same and similar circumstances" which must be addressed in every medical malpractice case, and the similar elements in the Defense. If a physician defendant proved the statutory elements to the jury's satisfaction, then the plaintiff cannot prevail without proving gross negligence.

*a. Voir Dire*

Appellants argue Respondent addressed elements of the Section 15-32-230 Defense during *voir dire*. This is incorrect. Respondent's co-counsel had prepared questions to pose to the jury panel, one of which included the phrase, "some people believe a medical doctor should not be held responsible for treating a patient in an emergency;" and a similar question related to "intentional

harm.” (R. p. 126, line 24 – p. 127, line 18). Judge McKinnon ruled that Respondent could not ask those questions. *Id.*

During colloquy the following phrases were used: “training;” “different from the statute;” and “what general emergency is as compared to emergents.” *Id.* Because Appellants called the Court’s attention to these words and phrases, they must find significance in these words and phrases, but why is unclear.

Regarding the latter phrase, “general” appears in the original transcript. Appellants quote the word as “genuine.” If “genuine” was the word actually used, then “genuine emergency,” a phrase in the statute, was used by co-counsel. However, its use in the statute hardly prohibits its use otherwise. Using “genuine emergency” is typical of the parlance used in other medical malpractice cases where there is no Section 15-32-320 issue. Its use in connection with “emergents” is most unclear. “Training” issues arise in every medical malpractice case. There is no clarity to which statute co-counsel was referring. Appellants construe it to be Section 15-32-230. Whichever statute might have been the intended reference is insignificant because the *voir dire* questions were not asked of the jury.

#### **b. Openings**

Appellants’ trial counsel used several words and phrases which appear in Section 15-32-230, but in combination with other words and phrases which do not appear. These include “emergency,” “immediate,” “serious bodily,” and “death.” (R. p. 283) The first is termed “obstetrical emergency,” which is not in the statute. “Immediate” was used to modify “danger,” not “threat.” Instead of “serious bodily injury,” counsel said, “serious bodily harm.” “Harm” and “injury” have similar import in this context, as do “danger” and “threat,” but the words used by

counsel are not contained in the statute. This illustrates the overlap between “same or similar” and the statute.

**c. Respondent’s Case in Chief**

Respondent called Dr. Miller. Appellants call the Court’s attention to words and phrases such as “training;” “emergent;” “emergency.” (R. pp. 415, 419) None suggest the Section 15-32-320 Defense was tried.

In direct examination of Dr. Duboe, Respondent’s obstetrical expert, the following words and phrases were used: “trained;” “genuine emergency;” “emergency;” “training;” and “emergent.” (R. pp. 308 - 309). Appellants called each to the Court’s attention. All these are common in medical malpractice cases generally. “Genuine emergency” is used in the statute, but its use is hardly exclusive to it.

**d. Appellants’ Defense Case and Other Parts of Trial**

When questioning Dr. Miller, his trial counsel asked leading questions that used words which appear in the statute. Just as in his opening, these questions often transposed words from the statute. Trying to distinguish between “same or similar circumstances” and words or phrases used in the statute and interjected by Appellants’ counsel as part of a leading question is challenging. Even reading the transcript in hindsight, it is unclear when a “same or similar situation” question slips subtly into the realm of a statute-based question. The same challenges arise in virtually every part of the Record on Appeal highlighted by Appellants. Hairsplitting whether verbiage in this context is significant is of little benefit to Appellants. It is certainly not necessary to do so to recognize that Judge McKinnon exercised his discretion properly to deny Appellants’ Rule 15(b) motion. The parties did not try Section 15-32-230 issues by express or implied consent.

## **2. Allowing a Rule 15(b) Amendment Would Not Have Subverted Presentation of the Merits.**

Hypothetically, even if the statutory defense had been tried by implied consent, and it was not, the outcome should be the same. In conferring trial judges with broad discretion whether to allow amendments to conform to the evidence, Rule 15(b) directs that the court “shall do so freely when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subverted thereby *and* the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense upon the merits.” (Emphasis added.) Neither of these conditions supports granting the motion to amend.

Presentation of the merits would not be subverted by allowing an affirmative defense to be added during trial nearly twelve years after the Answer was filed, after the Respondent rested her case. The exact opposite is true. This would preclude Respondent from presenting any testimony concerning the merits of an unpled *affirmative defense*. By surprising Respondent with their intolerably late attempt to amend, the Appellants sought to catch Respondent unprepared to make a *prima facie* issue of gross negligence.

## **3. Allowing a Rule 15(b) Amendment Would Have Prejudiced Respondent.**

If Respondent’s counsel had been on timely notice of the affirmative defense, he could have attempted to avoid the statute completely. For example, he could have undertaken to marshal evidence to present a jury question about (a) whether the shoulder dystocia emergency had been created by Dr. Miller; or (b) whether causally significant negligence of Dr. Miller occurred prior to any “genuine emergency.” Being denied these opportunities would have been prejudicial.

If Respondent’s counsel had been on timely notice of a statutory defense, he could have prepared to marshal evidence of gross negligence during discovery. He deposed Dr. Miller and

other health care providers without notice of the statutory defense being applicable. These are the deponents who are most likely to possess useful information probative of gross negligence. Granting Appellants' motion would have prejudiced Respondent by denying her notice of the need to seek other evidence to support a meritorious expert opinion of gross negligence. This manner of prejudice does not vanish upon any later opportunity to identify new witnesses, especially with no notice of any need to address the gross negligence issue.

Petitioners' trial counsel's actions were inconsistent with any effort to try to assert the affirmative defense this late. Most telling was his filing a motion on August 6, 2020, to amend their Answer to add punitive damages defenses, *without simultaneously seeking leave to add the statutory defense*. When Petitioners' trial counsel deposed Dr. Duboe on March 15, 2021, he asked no questions about gross negligence and posed no questions which used key words or phrases from the statute. This seemingly confirmed that Petitioners would not try to raise the statutory defense. The greater the delay, the lesser the likelihood Appellants would try to assert the statutory defense, and the less likely they would prevail in the effort.

Appellants' argument that judicial estoppel applies lacks merit. The factual context demonstrates the elements of estoppel are not remotely met. For up to seven months in 2018 Respondent expected the Appellants to seek leave to amend and try to make the Defense an issue at trial. This is because their counsel said so. For many years before April 2018 there was no reason to suspect so. After October 2018 it became increasingly evident they would not do so. Their motion to amend their Answer in August 2020 to add punitive damage defenses without seeking to add the Section 15-32-230 Defense laid to rest any reasonable suspicion or expectation Appellants' trial counsel would pursue the issue. Respondents did not conceive of the brazen

gamesmanship it took to try to win the trial in advance by plotting a surprise Rule 15(b) motion years before.

The trial court properly exercised its discretion to deny Appellants' motion because of the prejudice to Respondent. It would have required Respondent to present additional evidence to meet elements of the Defense, including gross negligence. Other examples of prejudice are set forth above.

Motions to amend pleadings to conform to proof may be made upon motion of any party at any time, even after judgment. However, rulings on such motions are within the sound discretion of the trial judge. *Ball v. Canadian Am. Exp. Co.*, 314 S.C. 272, 275, 442 S.E.2d 620, 622 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing Rule 15(b), SCRCP). There are numerous reasons why Judge McKinnon's exercise of discretion was sound. The trial judge's ruling will not be overturned without an abuse of discretion or unless manifest injustice has occurred. *Berry v. McLeod*, 328 S.C. 435, 450, 492 S.E.2d 794, 802 (Ct. App. 1997). There has been neither.

### **III. ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUND: DENYING THE RULE 15(b) MOTION PREVENTED APPELLANTS FROM BEING REWARDED FOR THEIR UNJUST, DECEPTIVE GAMESMANSHIP AND "GOTCHA" TACTICS**

Respondent has identified in this Brief much evidence of unjust and deceptive gamesmanship by Appellants' trial counsel. For brevity's sake, Respondent will not repeat those here but incorporate them by reference.

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